1998

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF WELBY J. Van Dyke v. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

Issues of Fact:

There are no issues of fact present in this appeal.

Standard of Review for Issues of Fact:

Issues of fact may be reversed on appeal only if they are found to be clearly erroneous. Cornish Town v. Koller, 758 P.2d 919 (Utah 1988).

Issues of Law:

Did the trial Court err as a matter of law when it denied Joe Van Dyke's Motion to avoid the transfers of Estate property by the Personal representatives of the Estate to themselves? (Record at pages 80-114)

Standard of Review for Issues of Law:

Issues of law are subject to de novo review by an appellate court, and the court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989).

VI
**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES**

Statutes:

Utah Code §75-3-712:

Any sale or encumbrance to the personal representative, his spouse, agent, or attorney or any corporation or trust in which he has a substantial beneficial interest, or any transaction which is affected by a substantial conflict of interest on the part of the personal representative, is voidable by any person interested in the estate, except one who has consented after fair disclosure, unless:

(1) The will or contract entered into by the decedent expressly authorized the transaction; or

(2) The transaction is approved by the court after notice to interested persons.

Rules: None.

Cases:

Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Utah 1989)

Cornish Town v. Koller, 758 P.2d 919 (Utah 1988)

In Re Smith Estate, 162 P.2d 105 (Utah 1945)

VII
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A)
NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the Sixth District Court of Wayne County, Judge Tervort, denying Joe Van Dyke's Motion to Avoid the Transfers of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate and appointing Leon Van Dyke, Richard Van Dyke and Karl Van Dyke as personal representatives of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke.

(B)
COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AT TRIAL COURT LEVEL

Welby J. Van Dyke died on October 5, 1994. Thereafter, Rene Van Dyke, Albert Van Dyke and Judy LeFever were appointed as "Informal Personal Representatives" of the Estate of the Decedent on or about February 2, 1996.

As personal representatives of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke, Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke transferred real property, farming equipment and water rights that were part of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to an alleged trust of which they are allegedly trustees and beneficiaries. As alleged trustees, they then sold and/or otherwise transferred 80 acres of the property and certain equipment to Rene Van Dyke over a 30 year period at no interest. As alleged trustees, they also sold and/or transferred the Decedent's home and 1.2 acres to Albert Van Dyke over a 30 year period at no interest. As alleged trustees, they further sold and/or transferred water rights to Rene Van Dyke, even though the water rights were personal property, as evidenced by water shares, and not a part of the real property that could allegedly be transferred according to the terms of the alleged trust.

On July 25, 1997, Joe Van Dyke filed a Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate, i.e., Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke.

On November 5, 1997, the trial court entered an order denying Joe Van Dyke's Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate. On December 10, 1997, Joe Van Dyke filed his Notice of Appeal in the Sixth District Court.

(C)
DISPOSITION OF CASE AT TRIAL COURT

On July 25, 1997, Joe Van Dyke filed a Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate, i.e., Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke.

On November 5, 1997, without comment of any sort, the trial court entered an order denying Joe Van Dyke's Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate.

(D)
STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Decedent, Welby J. Van Dyke, died on October 5, 1994.
(Record at page 1)

2. Rene Van Dyke, Albert Van Dyke and Judy LeFever were appointed as "Informal Personal Representatives" of the Estate of the Decedent (hereinafter, "the Estate") on or about February 2, 1996.
(Record at pages 12-17)

3. As personal representatives Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke transferred real property and farming equipment that was a part of the Estate to an alleged trust of which they are allegedly trustees and beneficiaries. (Record at pages 90-91, 93-94)

4. As alleged trustees, they then sold and/or otherwise transferred 80 acres of the property and certain equipment to Rene Van Dyke over a 30 year period at no interest. (Record at pages 97-103)

5. As alleged trustees, they also sold and/or transferred the Decedent's home and 1.2 acres to Albert Van Dyke over a 30 year period at no interest. (Record at pages 105-109)

6. As alleged trustees, Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke also sold and/or transferred water rights to Rene Van Dyke, even though the water rights were personal property and not a part of the real property that could allegedly be transferred according to the alleged trust. (Record at pages 248)

7. The alleged Will of the Deceased, on file with the trial court, does not specify that Rene or Albert may transfer any property of the Estate to themselves. (Record at pages 463-466)

8. The Deceased had no contract with either Rene or Albert for transfer of the real property and/or equipment to them. (Record at pages 463-466)

9. There has been no court order permitting Rene or Albert to transfer any property of the Estate to themselves. (Record at page 83)

10. Under Utah law, as "Informal Personal Representatives" of the Estate and as alleged trustees and beneficiaries of the alleged trust, Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke have a per se conflict of interest in transferring any property of the Estate to the trust and then to themselves. (Record at page 84)

11. On July 25, 1997, Mr. Van Dyke filed a Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate. (Record at pages 80-81)

12. On November 5, 1997, the trial court entered an order denying Mr. Van Dyke's Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property of the Estate of Welby Van Dyke to the Personal Representatives of the Estate. (Record at pages 316-317)

13. On September 10 1997, Joe Van Dyke filed his Notice of

Appeal with the Sixth District Court. (Record at page 322-323)

VIII SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial Court committed prejudicial and reversible error when it ignored the express provisions of Utah Code §75-3-512 and failed and refused to avoid the transfers of property of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke to Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke who, were at the time of the transfers, acting as both informal personal representatives of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke and as trustees for the alleged Welby J. Van Dyke family Trust. They were also beneficiaries of the alleged trust at the time of the transfers.

IX ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHEN IT REFUSED TO AVOID THE TRANSFER OF ESTATE PROPERTY TO RENE VAN DYKE AND ALBERT VAN DYKE.

POINT I

BECAUSE RENE VAN DYKE AND ALBERT VAN DYKE, AS INFORMAL PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES OF THE ESTATE AND AS ALLEGED TRUSTEES AND BENEFICIARIES OF THE ALLEGED TRUST, HAVE A PER SE CONFLICT OF INTEREST, WITH RESPECT TO ANY TRANSFER OF PROPERTY OF THE ESTATE TO THEMSELVES, THEY ARE PER SE PROHIBITED FROM TRANSFERRING ANY PROPERTY OF THE ESTATE TO THEMSELVES AND/OR THE ALLEGED TRUST, UNLESS THEY COMPLIED WITH THE PROVISIONS OF §75-3-512. THEREFORE, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN NOT AVOIDING THE TRANSFERS BY THE VAN DYKES TO THEMSELVES.

§75-3-512 provides as follows:

Any sale or encumbrance to the personal representative, his spouse, agent, or attorney or any corporation or trust in which he has a substantial beneficial interest, or any transaction which is affected by a substantial conflict of interest on the part of the personal representative, is voidable by any person interested in the estate, except one who has consented after fair disclosure, unless:

*(1) The will or contract entered into by the decedent expressly authorized the transaction;
or*

(2) The transaction is approved by the court after notice to interested persons.

As "Informal Personal Representatives" Rene and Albert are per se prohibited from transferring assets of the Estate to the alleged trust in which they are both trustees and beneficiaries and then to themselves from the alleged trust. As "Informal Personal Representatives" of the Estate, as alleged trustees and beneficiaries of the alleged trust, Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke have per se conflicts of interest in authorization of the transfer of the Estate property to the alleged trust and then authorizing a transfer of the property from the alleged trust to themselves.

The Decedent's will did not authorize any transfer of property by the personal representatives to themselves. No court order was obtained permitting Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke to transfer Estate property to the alleged trust in which they were alleged trustees and beneficiaries and then to themselves. Joe Van Dyke did not consent to the transfer of Estate property to the alleged trust and then to Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke.

Because the transfer of Estate property to the alleged trust in which Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke are trustees and beneficiaries is, under the facts of this case, per se prohibited by §75-3-512 and because Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke, under the facts of this case, have per se conflicts of interest as "Informal Personal Representatives" of the Estate and as "trustees" and beneficiaries of the alleged trust, the transfers of the Estate property to the trust and ultimately to themselves, must be avoided under the express language of §75-3-512. Therefore, the trial court committed

prejudicial and reversible error when it failed and refused to avoid the unlawful transfers of Estate property to the alleged trust and then to Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke.

Under the former version of Utah Code §75-3-712 an executor or administrator was prohibited under any circumstances from directly or indirectly purchasing any estate property or having any interest in any sale of estate property. See In Re Smith Estate, 162 P.2d 105 (Utah 1945). That absolute prohibition has been modified in the present version of Utah Code §75-3-712. Now a personal representative may under certain specified circumstances purchase estate property. However none of those circumstances are present in this case.

In this case Joe Van Dyke did not consent to the transfer of estate property to Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke. There is no court order approving the transfers prior to the transfers taking place. There is no provision in the Will of Welby J. Van Dyke authorizing Rene Van Dyke or Albert Van Dyke to transfer estate property to themselves. Therefore, the transfers to Rene Van Dyke and Albert Van Dyke, must be avoided as was the sale of estate property in In Re Smith Estate.