1998

In the matter of the estate of Welby J. Van Dyke : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Sections 78-2-2 (3) (j), and 78-2-2 (4), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, and Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal by appellant Joe Van Dyke from an order of the Sixth District Court of Wayne County, Judge Louis G. Tervort presiding, denying Joe's Motion to Avoid Transfers of Estate Property to Rene and Albert. Appellant states in the title page to his brief that he is also appealing from the order formally appointing Leon, Richard and Karl as Personal Representatives of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke. However, the issue framed in the Brief of Appellant is limited to the refusal of the Trial Court to avoid the transfer of estate property. (Brief of

Appellant, 2, 3, 8).

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review is whether the trial court erred by denying Joe's Motion to avoid transfers of estate property to Rene and Albert.

STANDARD OF APPELLANT REVIEW

Issues of Law.

The appellant court decides matters of law for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. (State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 933, (Utah 1994))

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,
ORDINANCE, RULES AND REGULATIONS**

Section 75-3-701, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, describes the duties and powers of the personal representative in pertinent part as follows:

The duties and powers of a personal representative commence upon his appointment....

Section 75-3-703, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, in pertinent part provides:

(1) A personal representative is a fiduciary who shall observe the standard of care applicable to trustees as described by Section 75-7-302. A personal representative is under a duty to settle and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of any probated and effective will and this code and as expeditiously and efficiently as is consistent with the best interests of the estate. He shall use the authority conferred upon him by this code, the terms of the will, if any, and any order in proceedings to which he is party for the best interests of successors to the estate.

(2) A personal representative shall not be surcharged for acts of administration or distribution if the conduct in question was authorized at the time. Subject to other obligations of administration, an informally probated will is authority to administer and distribute the estate according to its terms. An

order of appointment of a personal representative, whether issued in informal or formal proceedings, is authority to distribute apparently intestate assets to the heirs of the decedent if, at the time of distribution, the personal representative is not aware of a pending testacy proceeding, a proceeding to vacate an order entered in an earlier testacy proceeding, a formal proceeding questioning his appointment or fitness to continue, or a supervised administrator proceeding. Nothing in this section affects the duty of the personal representative to administer and distribute the estate in accordance with the rights or claimants, the surviving spouse, any minor and dependent children, and any pretermitted child of the decedent as described elsewhere in this code.

Section 75-3-704, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 provides that a personal representative shall proceed without court order as follows:

A personal representative shall proceed expeditiously with the settlement and distribution of a decedent's estate and except as otherwise specified or ordered in regard to a supervised personal representative, do so without adjudication, order, or direction of the court but may invoke the jurisdiction of the court in proceedings authorized by this code to resolve questions concerning the estate or its administration.

Section 75-3-712, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended provides as follows:

Any sale or encumbrance to the personal representative, his spouse, agent, or attorney or any corporation or Trust in which he has a substantial beneficial interest, or any transaction which is affected by a substantial conflict of interest on the part of the personal representative, is voidable by any person interested in the estate, except one who has consented after fair disclosure, unless:

- (1) The will or a contract entered into by the decedent expressly authorized the transaction; or
- (2) The transaction is approved by the Court after notice to interested persons.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Proceedings of the Case.

Rene, Albert and Judy are three of the eleven children of

Decedent and were nominated to be Personal Representatives in Decedent's Last Will and Testament. (Decedent's Will, Section 1; Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 14).

On February 14, 1996, Rene, Albert and Judy were appointed Personal Representatives of the Estate of Welby J. Van Dyke. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 27). Letters Testamentary were issued the same day. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 29).

In December, 1996, Rene, Albert and Judy transferred Estate real property to the Welby J. Van Dyke Family Trust. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 30-35).

On July 25, 1997, Joe filed a Motion to Avoid Transfers of Property and Equipment. (R. 80-81). Joe requested the Court to avoid the sale of 80 acres of real property to Rene and the transfer of property to Albert.

Disposition of Motions By Trial Court.

On November 5, 1997, District Court Judge Louis G. Tervort entered an Order Granting Petition for the Formal Appointment of Will and Formal Appointment of Personal Representative and Order Denying the Motion of Joe Van Dyke to Avoid Transfer. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 36).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On February 6, 1980, Welby J. Van Dyke executed his last Will and Testament ("Will"). The Will nominated Rene, Albert and Judy as Personal Representatives. (Decedent's Will, Section 1; Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 14)

2. On February 6, 1980, Welby signed the Welby J. Van Dyke

Family Living Trust Agreement ("Trust Agreement"). The Trust Agreement names Rene, Albert and Judy as Co-Trustees and provides that each of decedent's eleven children are to receive a full equal share of the trust's assets. The Trust Agreement also provides that each share shall be distributed to each child free and clear of trust. Specifically, the Trust Agreement states in relevant part:

Provided, further, however, Settlor's sons RENE VAN DYKE, ALBERT VAN DYKE and JOE VAN DYKE may take their share in the form of agricultural assets including but not limited to real estate, livestock and equipment. If Settlor's sons' shares are not large enough to accommodate all of such agriculture assets, Settlor's sons may purchase said agricultural assets from Settlor's other children for an amount equal to the fair market values determined in the Federal Estate Tax proceeding occurring on Settlor's death.... In the event of such a purchase, Settlor's sons may deliver a promissory note or notes payable to Settlor's other beneficiaries. The note or notes shall be paid in equal annual installments over a period not to exceed thirty (30) years with no interest. In the event of a calf crop failure, draught, disaster, or financial recession, or any other event which might be termed a catastrophe, or beyond the control of Settlor's sons RENE VAN DYKE, ALBERT VAN DYKE and JOE VAN DYKE, he or they may be excused from making said payments and the agreement shall be continued for one (1) additional year so that he or they can proceed with the purchases contemplated by this provision; and while it is contemplated by the terms of this agreement that this special limitation will be invoked only one year at a time, there is no intention to limit the number of times that this provision can be invoked, provided that the operation is at a loss. (Trust Agreement, Section 4.20; Addendum of Appellee's Brief, 20).

3. Rene, Albert and Judy were appointed Informal Personal Representatives on February 14, 1996. (Letters Testamentary; Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 29).

4. On December 13, 1996, Judy, Rene and Albert, as Personal Representatives of the Estate, quit claimed to the Welby

J. Van Dyke Family Trust ("Trust") with Judy, Rene and Albert as co-Trustees, 26.12 acres, 80 acres and 1.2 acres of real estate located in Wayne County, Utah. The three deeds were recorded January 23, 1997. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 30-35).

5. Appellant claims that Rene and Albert transferred the property to the Trust and then transferred certain property to themselves. The facts are that Rene, Albert and Judy as Personal Representatives of the estate transferred property to the Trust and the Trust (acting through all three as Trustees) transferred property of the Trust to Rene, Albert and Joe, in accordance with the terms of the Trust. (Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 5, 30-35).

6. On July 25, 1997, Joe filed a Motion to Avoid Transfer of Property and Equipment. Joe's Motion was filed seven months after the Personal Representatives transferred the real estate to the Trust and three months after Joe agreed to pay for the agricultural property he received from the Trust.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO AVOID THE TRANSFER OF PROPERTY TO RENE AND ALBERT

The transfer of property by the Personal Representatives from the estate to the Trust does not violate Section 75-3-712 because the transfer was authorized by the Will and Trust Agreement. The Personal Representatives specifically followed Utah law and Decedent's Will when they transferred the property to the Trust.

The transfer of the property from the Trust to its

beneficiaries is not a matter that was before the trial court. It is not before the appellate court.

The Personal Representatives distributed the property to the Trust. The distribution was not a sale or transaction as is required for Section 75-3-712 to make the transaction voidable.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO AVOID THE TRANSFER OF PROPERTY TO RENE AND ALBERT

Point 1. The Transfer of property was expressly authorized by the Will and Trust Agreement.

Joe claims the trial court erred by failing to avoid the transfer of property from the decedent's estate to the Trust because the personal representatives of the estate at the time had an interest in the transactions. Joe claims the existence at a "per se conflict of interest" which he asserts violates Section 75-3-712 Utah Code Ann. However, because the terms of the Will and the Trust instructed the personal representatives and trustees to make the transfers, there is no violation of Section 75-3-712. The trial court correctly denied Joe's motion to avoid the transfers.

Under the express terms of Section 75-3-712 a transfer of property to a personal representative is not voidable if "The will or a contract entered into by the decedent expressly authorized the transaction." The decedent's Will in this case directed that his "personal and household effects of a tangible personal property nature" be distributed in equal shares to his eleven children. The Will further provided:

I give the remainder of my residuary estate to RENE VAN DYKE of Lyman, Utah, ALBERT VAN DYKE of Lyman, Utah and JUDY LeFEVRE of Granger, Utah, or their successor, as Co-Trustees of that certain trust designated as the Welby J. Van Dyke Family Living Trust established February 6, 1980, of which I am the settlor and the aforementioned RENE VAN DYKE, ALBERT VAN DYKE and JUDY LeFEVRE are Co-Trustees. I direct that the remainder of my residuary estate shall be held, administered, and distributed as a part of that trust according to the terms of that trust....(will, section 5.20; Addendum to Appellee's Brief, 15; emphasis added).

Because the express terms of the Will instructed Rene, Albert and Judy to transfer the estate's assets to the Trust, the transactions are not voidable. Their duties and powers commenced upon their appointment. (Section 75-3-701, Utah Code Ann.). The Personal Representatives were duty bound to expeditiously and efficiently transfer the estate's assets to the Trust. The Utah Probate Code mandates that personal representatives distribute assets of the estate according to the terms specified in a decedent's will. Section 75-3-703(1), Utah Code Ann., states in pertinent part:

A personal representative is under a duty to settle and distribute the estate of the decedent in accordance with the terms of any probated and effective will and this code and as expeditiously and efficiently as is consistent with the best interest of the estate. (Emphasis added).

Section 75-3-704, Utah Code Ann., states in pertinent part:

A personal representative shall proceed expeditiously with the settlement and distribution of a decedent's estate and except as otherwise specified or ordered in regard to a supervised personal representative, do so without adjudication, order, or direction of the court....

By transferring the assets to the Trust, the personal representatives simply followed the decedent's instructions in his Will. Had they not done so they would have violated their

statutory duties. The trial court correctly denied Joe's Motion to Avoid Transfers. The appeal of Appellant is without merit.

Likewise, the trustees of the Trust performed as instructed by the terms of the Trust when they distributed trust assets to Rene, Albert and Joe. The Trust instructs an equal division of the Trust assets among the eleven children with the following provision:

Provided, further, however, Settlor's sons RENE VAN DYKE, ALBERT VAN DYKE and JOE VAN DYKE may take their share in the form of agricultural assets including but not limited to real estate, livestock and equipment. If Settlor's sons' shares are not large enough to accommodate all of such agricultural assets, Settlor's sons may purchase said agricultural assets from Settlor's other children for an amount equal to the fair market value determined in the Federal Estate Tax proceeding occurring on Settlor's death....In the event of such a purchase, Settlor's sons may deliver a promissory note or notes payable to Settlor's other beneficiaries. The note or notes shall be paid in equal annual installments over a period not to exceed thirty (30) years with no interest. (Trust Agreement, Section 4.20; Addendum of Appellee's Brief, 20)

The Will and Trust Agreement expressly authorized the transfers of assets from the estate to the Trust and from the Trust to Rene, Albert and to Joe. Because the transfers were expressly authorized by "The Will or a contract entered into by the decedent" there is no "per se conflict of interest". Joe is not entitled to avoid the transfers. Joe does not object to, and did not attempt to avoid, the transfers of agricultural assets from the Trust to himself. Joe's motion was without merit and the trial court did not err when it denied the motion.

Point 2. Appellant's Complaints against the trust are not proper in this action.

Decedent specified in his Will that the Trust not become

subject to the jurisdiction of the probate court. The Will states:

It is my intention not to create a separate Trust by this Will not to subject the Welby J. Van Dyke Family Living Trust nor the property added by this Will to the jurisdiction of the probate court. (Decedent's Will, Section 5.20, Addendum of Appellee's Brief. 15-16).

The Personal Representatives followed the instruction given by Decedent in the Will and distributed the estate's property to the Trust. What happened to the property thereafter is a matter that is not the subject of the probate action. Jurisdiction over the Trust was not invoked at the trial court level and is not properly before the court in this appeal.

Point 3. Section 75-3-712, UCA, 1953 does not apply because there was no sale or transaction made by the Personal Representatives.

Section 75-3-712 provides as follows:

Any sale or encumbrance to the personal representative, his spouse, agent, or attorney or any corporation or Trust in which he has a substantial beneficial interest, or any transaction which is affected by a substantial conflict of interest on the part of the personal representative, is voidable by any person interested in the estate, except one who has consented after fair disclosure, unless:

- (1) The will or contract entered into by the decedent expressly authorized the transaction; or
- (2) The transaction is approved by the Court after notice to interested persons.

Distribution of Decedents Estate property to Decedents Trust in accordance with the provisions of Decedent's Will is not a sale or a transaction. It is a distribution authorized by Decedent's will. Rene, Albert and Judy simply distributed the Trust assets in accordance with the authorization granted to them by the Trust. Joe complains that Rene and Albert were interested

parties with regard to the agricultural assets. Joe fails to acknowledge, however, that Judy had no interest in the agricultural assets and was an independent personal representative and trustee who distributed property from the estate to the Trust and from the Trust to the beneficiaries Rene, Albert and Joe.

CONCLUSION

For reasons set forth above Appellees respectfully request that the Court affirm the order of the Trial Court in its entirety.